**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

---

Appeal from Spartanburg County  
Court of Common Pleas

Grace Gilchrist Knie, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2020-CP-42-03593  
Court of Appeals Case No. 2021-000707  
Unpublished Opinion No. 2023-UP-392 (S.C. Ct. App. filed December 13, 2023)  
Supreme Court Case No. 2024-000304

---

Trina Dawkins,  
as Personal Representative of the Estate of William Dawkins,

**RECEIVED**

**Mar 28 2024**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

Respondent,

v.

Fundamental Clinical and Operational Services, LLC;  
Fundamental Administrative Services, LLC;  
THI of South Carolina, LLC;  
THI of South Carolina at Spartanburg, LLC;

### QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the circuit court’s denial of the Motion to Compel Arbitration and, in turn, the Motions to Stay?**
  - A. Did the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the circuit court on the basis that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement did not merge?**
  - B. Did the Court of Appeals err in not reaching Petitioners’ remaining arguments, including especially, but not limited to, the equitable estoppel argument?**
  - C. Had the Court of Appeals reached Petitioners’ remaining arguments, including especially, but not limited to, the equitable estoppel argument, as, respectfully, it should have, should the Court of Appeals have found that the circuit court erred in not finding Plaintiff equitably estopped to deny the**

---

<sup>1</sup> Primarily, the “Facility” refers to Defendant/Petitioner “THI of South Carolina at Spartanburg, LLC,” which is the correct legal name of the entity doing business as, and the sole licensee of, the skilled-nursing facility known as Magnolia Manor-Spartanburg; however, out of an abundance of caution, it is also intended to cover, to the extent necessary, the party improperly identified in this action as Defendant/Petitioner “THI of South Carolina at Magnolia Manor-Spartanburg, LLC d/b/a Magnolia Manor-Spartanburg.”

<sup>2</sup> The “Other Defendants” are Defendants/Petitioners Fundamental Clinical and Operational Services, LLC; Fundamental Administrative Services, LLC; and THI of South Carolina, LLC, collectively. Together, the Facility and the Other Defendants are collectively referred to as “Defendants” or “Petitioners.”

<sup>3</sup> “Plaintiff” refers to Plaintiff/Respondent, Trina Dawkins, as Personal Representative of the Estate of William Dawkins. “Mr. Dawkins” refers to the decedent, William Dawkins. “Melissa” refers to Mr. Dawkins’s daughter Melissa Dawkins.

**enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement and that it (the circuit court) should have granted the Motion to Compel Arbitration?**

**D. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the circuit court’s denial of the Motion to Stay?**

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

With Melissa’s help, Mr. Dawkins was admitted to the Facility in late April 2017. (*See* R. p. 24 ¶ 12; R. pp. 112-113; R. p. 242.) In conjunction with Mr. Dawkins’s admission, Melissa signed a number of documents on his behalf, including an Admission Agreement<sup>4</sup> and an Arbitration Agreement.<sup>5</sup>

Melissa signed both the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement as “Resident’s [(i.e., Mr. Dawkins’s<sup>6</sup>)] Durable Power of Attorney for Health Care’/[Mr. Dawkins’s] Legal Guardian’/[Mr. Dawkins’s] Responsible Party.” (R. p. 157; R. p. 105.) By signing the Admission Agreement, Melissa expressly acknowledged that the “promises and representations [she made therein were] in order to induce Facility to enter into th[e] Agreement” and that the “Facility [wa]s relying upon the truthfulness of the promises and representations [she] made.” (R. p. 168.) By signing the Arbitration Agreement, Melissa expressly “represent[ed] that . . . she ha[d] the authority to sign on [Mr. Dawkins’s] behalf so as to bind [Mr. Dawkins] as well as [herself].” (R. p. 105.)

---

<sup>4</sup> (R. pp. 157-168.)

<sup>5</sup> (R. p. 105.) Without question, the Arbitration Agreement is governed by the FAA. It expressly states that the FAA applies. (R. p. 105.) Moreover, this Court has held that skilled nursing facility admission agreements implicate interstate commerce and, thus, the FAA. *Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC*, 408 S.C. 371, 381–82, 759 S.E.2d 727, 732–33 (2014).

<sup>6</sup> Both the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement refer to Mr. Dawkins as the “Resident.” (R. pp. 157, 105.)

Alleging that Mr. Dawkins received deficient care/treatment during his residency at the Facility,<sup>7</sup> and lumping all Defendants together as supposed owners and operators of the Facility,<sup>8</sup> Plaintiff filed this wrongful death and survival action on October 14, 2020, in the Court of Common Pleas, Spartanburg County. (*See* R. pp. 21-29.)<sup>9</sup>

Citing the Arbitration Agreement that Melissa signed on behalf of Mr. Dawkins, on February 12, 2021, the Facility moved to compel Plaintiff's claims to arbitration (the "Motion to Compel Arbitration"),<sup>10</sup> prompting each of the Other Defendants to move to stay the lawsuit pending the outcome of the Motion to Compel Arbitration and any resulting arbitration between

---

<sup>7</sup> In particular, Plaintiff alleges that Mr. Dawkins did not receive proper wound care. (*See* R. pp. 112 ("This is a nursing negligence case. Mr. Dawkins was admitted to the . . . [F]acility . . . on April 25, 2017. The Plaintiff, acting on behalf of Mr. Dawkins' estate, alleges that over approximately the next two months Mr. Dawkins did not receive proper wound care which led to severe injuries to his legs. The Plaintiff has brought both survival and wrongful death causes of action."))

<sup>8</sup> (R. p. 24 ¶ 8 ("Upon information and belief, the Defendants own and operate a skilled nursing facility located at 375 Serpentine Drive, Spartanburg, South Carolina.")) While it is admitted that "THI of South Carolina at Spartanburg, LLC," the correct legal name of the entity doing business as Magnolia Manor-Spartanburg, is the sole licensee of the Facility (R. p. 31 ¶ 5), it is denied that the Other Defendants own or operate the Facility. (R. p. 38 ¶ 6; R. p. 44 ¶ 6; R. p. 50 ¶ 6.)

<sup>9</sup> Defendants timely answered Plaintiff's complaint, denying liability and raising a number of affirmative defenses. (R. pp. 30-54.) The Facility's answer was made "*subject to and specifically reserving its right to compel this matter to arbitration and without waiving any rights to have any and all claims dismissed*" and raised arbitration as an affirmative defense or other avoidance of litigation. (R. p. 30 (emphasis in original); R. p. 33 ¶¶ 17-18.)

<sup>10</sup> (R. pp. 102-104; *see also* R. pp. 119-156.) Without question, Plaintiff's claims against the Facility are within the scope of the Arbitration Agreement. (*See* R. p. 105 ("[A]ny controversy or dispute between the parties arising out of or relating to Facility's Admission Agreement, or breach thereof, or relating in any way to [Mr. Dawkins's] stay at Facility, or to the provisions of care or services to [Mr. Dawkins], including but not limited to any alleged tort, personal injury, negligence or other claim; or any federal or state statutory or regulatory claim of any kind; or whether or not there has been a violation of any right or rights granted under State law (collectively 'Disputes'), and the parties are unable to resolve such through negotiation, then the parties agree that such Dispute(s) shall be resolved by arbitration . . . .")) This plain language clearly embraces the subject matter of Plaintiff's claims against the Facility, but even if there were "any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues[,] [they] should be resolved in

Plaintiff and the Facility (collectively, the “Motions to Stay”). (R. pp. 106-111; *see also* R. pp. 178-192.)

Plaintiff filed a memo in opposition to the Motion to Compel Arbitration on March 12, 2021. (R. pp. 112-118.) The Facility filed a memo in support of the Motion to Compel Arbitration on March 15, 2021. (R. pp. 119-156.) And the circuit court heard the Motion to Compel Arbitration and the Motions to Stay on March 16, 2021, via Webex, the Honorable Grace Gilchrist Knie presiding. (R. pp. 55-91.)

During the hearing, the court (a) granted Plaintiff the option to file a post-hearing memo in reply to the Facility’s memo in support of the Motion to Compel Arbitration and (b), whether or not Plaintiff chose to do so, directed Plaintiff and Defendants to submit proposed orders. (R. pp. 88:22-90:24.)

On March 18, 2021, Plaintiff filed a reply to the Facility’s memo in support of the Motion to Compel Arbitration. (R. pp. 139-202.) Not only that, along with the reply, Plaintiff filed an affidavit from Melissa,<sup>11</sup> to which Plaintiff thereafter cited in her proposed order. (R. pp. 240-255.) By way of their proposed order, Defendants objected to and argued against the court’s reliance on Melissa’s unchecked affidavit. (R. pp. 256-272; *see also* R. pp. 326-330; R. pp. 294-322.)

The court denied the Motion to Compel Arbitration and the Motions to Stay by order filed April 8, 2021. (R. pp. 1-14.) Although the court did not adopt Plaintiff’s proposed order verbatim, its order denying the motions did reference Melissa’s affidavit. (*See* R. pp. 1-14.) Pursuant to Rule 59(e), on Monday, April 19, 2021, Defendants timely moved the court to alter,

---

favor of arbitration . . . .” *Towles v. United HealthCare Corp.*, 338 S.C. 29, 41, 524 S.E.2d 839, 846 (Ct. App. 1999).

<sup>11</sup> (R. pp. 236-269.)

amend, and/or reconsider its decision. (R. pp. 273-289; *see also* R. pp. 290-293; R. pp. 15-17; R. pp. 326-330.) The court denied the motion by order filed June 1, 2021. (R. pp. 18-20.)

By notice served July 1, 2021, this appeal timely followed. (R. pp. 331-338.) In due course, the appeal was briefed and made ready for decision and decided without oral argument via the Subject Opinion, filed December 13, 2023.

As certified above, Petitioners timely petitioned for rehearing, and the Court of Appeals denied rehearing by order filed February 5, 2024.

This petition for a writ of certiorari timely follows.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

A circuit court's determination of whether a claim is subject to arbitration is reviewed de novo on appeal. *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 240, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009). This includes de novo review of the determination of whether an arbitration agreement is enforceable against a nonsignatory. *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 334, 827 S.E.2d 167, 172 (2019). "Under de novo review, a circuit court's factual findings will not be reversed on appeal if any evidence reasonably supports those findings." *Id.* Issues of law, however, are reviewed without any particular deference to the circuit court. *See, e.g., Duke Energy Corp. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 415 S.C. 351, 782 S.E.2d 590 (2016). Even where a ruling is on a matter within circuit court's discretion, if the ruling is based on a misunderstanding of the law, rather than upon the exercise of discretion, the question presented on appeal is one of law. *See Bain v. Self Mem'l Hosp.*, 281 S.C. 138, 152, 314 S.E.2d 603, 611 (Ct. App. 1984).

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the circuit court’s denial of the Motion to Compel Arbitration and, in turn, the Motions to Stay.**

#### **A. The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the circuit court on the basis that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement did not merge.<sup>12</sup>**

Petitioners’ merger/equitable estoppel argument is a standalone argument that does not depend on any showing of authority (actual or apparent or otherwise) on the part of Melissa or otherwise on the existence of any per se valid and enforceable agreement between the parties. *See Wilson*, 426 S.C. at 338, 827 S.E.2d at 174 (observing that South Carolina has recognized numerous theories that can bind nonsignatories to arbitration agreements, including estoppel); *Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 346, 354–55, 755 S.E.2d 450, 455 (2014) (acknowledging the possibility of enforcing an arbitration agreement against a nonsignatory via merger and equitable estoppel); *id.* (explaining “Appellants’ equitable estoppel argument,” which “[wa]s premised on [Appellants’] contention that, under state law, the admission agreements and the [arbitration agreements] merged,” as follows: “Appellants contend that even if Sister lacked capacity to execute the [arbitration agreement] . . . , she is nevertheless *equitably estopped to deny the [arbitration agreement’s] enforceability.*”) (emphasis added).

Conceptually, the merger/equitable estoppel argument is not an argument for the *enforceability* of the Arbitration Agreement per se but rather for Plaintiff to be *estopped to deny the enforceability* of the Arbitration Agreement. In short, the idea is that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement merged, and because Mr. Dawkins effectively embraced and directly benefitted from the Admission Agreement, Mr. Dawkins, and, therefore,

---

<sup>12</sup> (Subject Opinion (“[W]e hold the circuit court did not err in denying the Facility’s motion to compel arbitration because the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement did not merge.”).)

Plaintiff, who stands in Mr. Dawkins's shoes, is estopped to deny the enforceability of the Arbitration Agreement merged therewith. Accordingly, any lack of authority on the part of Melissa is beside the point and unavailing to refute the merger/equitable estoppel argument, which, again, turns not on the question of whether the Arbitration Agreement is enforceable per se but whether Mr. Dawkins, and, in turn, Plaintiff, should be estopped to deny that the Arbitration Agreement is enforceable—and, most respectfully, the answer is yes.

In *Coleman*, even though this Court found against merger on the particular *facts* of the case, it nonetheless confirmed the validity of the general proposition of *law* on which the *Coleman* appellants based their merger/equitable estoppel argument:

Appellants contend that even if Sister lacked capacity to execute the [arbitration agreement] under the [Adult Health Care Consent] Act, she is nevertheless equitably estopped to deny the [arbitration agreement's] enforceability. The circuit court held there was no estoppel here, and we agree.

Appellants' equitable estoppel argument is premised on their contention that, under state law, the admission agreements and the [arbitration agreements] merged. In South Carolina,

The general rule is that, in the absence of anything indicating a contrary intention, where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction, the courts will consider and construe the documents together. The theory is that the instruments are effectively one instrument or contract.

*Klutts Resort Realty, Inc. v. Down 'Round Dev. Corp.*, 268 S.C. 80, 88, 232 S.E.2d 20, 24 (1977).

Here, *the documents were executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction. Unless there is a contrary intention, appellants are correct that there was a merger.*

407 S.C. at 354–355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (emphasis added).

Here, like the circuit court, the Court of Appeals has erred in rejecting the Facility and Porter’s merger argument, failing to recognize material differences between the facts and arguments involved in the instant case and those that controlled (or were simply not addressed in) *Coleman* and its progeny *Thompson v. Pruitt Corp.*, 416 S.C. 43, 784 S.E.2d 679 (Ct. App. 2016), and *Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC*, 422 S.C. 544, 813 S.E.2d 292 (Ct. App. 2018), and the Court of Appeals’ more recent decision in *Solesbee v. Fundamental Clinical and Operational Services, LLC*, 438 S.C. 638, 885 S.E. 2d 144 (Ct. App. 2023), concluding:

Here, as in *Solesbee*<sup>[13]</sup> and *Hodge*<sup>[14]</sup>, (1) the two agreements were governed by different bodies of law because the Admission Agreement was governed by state law and the Arbitration Agreement was governed by federal law; (2) each document was separately labeled, numbered, and contained its own signature page; (3) the arbitration agreement recognized the two documents were separate, stating the arbitration agreement “shall survive any termination or breach of this Agreement or the Admission Agreement”; and (4) the Facility acknowledged that signing the

---

<sup>13</sup> In affirming the circuit court’s denial of the motion to compel arbitration at issue in *Solesbee*, the *Solesbee* Court likened that case to *Coleman* and *Hodge* and found that the circuit court had correctly determined that there was no merger of the admission agreement and the arbitration agreement and, in turn, had properly denied the equitable estoppel argument. *Solesbee*, 438 S.C. at 649, 885 S.E.2d at 149 (“Thus, like the *Coleman* and *Hodge* courts, we find there was no merger in this case and [the Facility’s] equitable estoppel argument was properly denied.”).) While Petitioners concede that the Arbitration Agreement and Admission Agreement in issue in the instant case are the same form documents as in *Solesbee*, most respectfully, as addressed below, the merger analysis in *Solesbee* is erroneous and incomplete and should not control the disposition of this case. Indeed, Petitioners would also note that it is still possible that this Court might review *Solesbee* via a writ of certiorari.

<sup>14</sup> To be clear, the admission agreement and arbitration agreement in *Hodge* were materially different from the instant Admission Agreement and Arbitration Agreement. Moreover, the plain language of *Hodge* makes clear that its finding against merger is based on its assessment of a multitude of particular factors taken together, 422 S.C. at 563, 813 S.E.2d at 302 (“Based on all of this, we find the Admissions Agreement and Arbitration Agreement did not merge.”) (emphasis added)), and does not support the view that any of the cited factors standing alone—without regard to their context or the impact of other factors—can support a reasonable, non-speculative finding against merger.

Arbitration Agreement was not a prerequisite to admission to the Facility.

(Subject Opinion.)

The Subject Opinion erroneously concludes that the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement are separate contracts that do not merge. The merger question examines whether, “where instruments are executed at the same time, by the same parties, for the same purpose, and in the course of the same transaction,”<sup>15</sup> as indeed the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement were here,<sup>16</sup> there is evidence to upset the *presumption in favor of merger*, i.e., the presumption that the instruments should be construed together as effectively one contract. This is a question of intention. *Id.* at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (“in the absence of anything indicating a contrary *intention* . . .”) (emphasis added). And “in attempting to ascertain th[e] [parties’] intention,” our courts “endeavor to determine the situation of the parties, as well as their purposes, at the time the contract was entered into.” *Klutts*, 268 S.C. at 89, 232 S.E.2d at 25.

For the merger presumption to mean anything in practice, it cannot be upset based on mere conjecture, but only on actual evidence that—notwithstanding the concurrence of all the particular circumstances necessary for the presumption to even arise in the first place (same time, parties, purpose, and transaction)—can nonetheless support a reasonable, non-speculative inference that the parties’ intention was contrary to merger. *Cf. The Huffines Co., LLC v. Lockhart*, 365 S.C. 178, 188, 617 S.E.2d 125, 130 (Ct. App. 2005) (“[V]erdicts may not be

---

<sup>15</sup> *Coleman*, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455.

<sup>16</sup> As the *Coleman* Court expressly observed regarding the admission and arbitration agreements before it (which in *this* respect—but not in respect of the material facts bearing on the question of whether the presumption of merger is rebutted—are no different from the instant agreements), “the documents were [indeed] executed at *the same time, by the same parties, for*

permitted to rest upon surmise, conjecture, or speculation.”). No such inference can be drawn here. Indeed, it does not even make sense that there would have been an intention contrary to merger of the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement.

Unlike the arbitration agreements at issue in *Coleman*, *Hodge*, and *Thompson*, all of which provided that they could be disclaimed or revoked within 30 days of their signing (while the corresponding admission agreements contained no such provision), the instant Arbitration Agreement has no such disclaimer/revocation provision. (See R. p. 105.) Moreover, while the instant Admission Agreement does contain an “Entire Agreement” clause, it does not reference the Arbitration Agreement as a separate contract. (R. p. 168.) Indeed, directly contradicting the idea of “separatedness” (in the parlance of the *Coleman* Court<sup>17</sup>), the “Entire Agreement” clause in the instant Admission Agreement expressly states that “other Admissions materials” are part of the Admission Agreement, thereby expressly contemplating the lack of its own supposed “separatedness.” (R. p. 168.) And without question, the Arbitration Agreement is among these other Admissions materials. See *Stott v. White Oak Manor, Inc.*, 426 S.C. 568, 571–72, 828 S.E.2d 82, 84 (Ct. App. 2019) (“The same day as Decedent’s admission to White Oak, Stott, acting as Decedent’s authorized representative, signed White Oak’s *admission documentation—including the Arbitration Agreement.*”) (emphasis added) (internal footnote omitted); *Hodge*, 422 S.C. at 550, 813 S.E.2d at 295 (“Her husband . . . executed various documents *related to her*

---

*the same purposes, and in the course of the same transaction.*” 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455 (emphasis added).

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