RECEIVED

Apr 18 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Spartanburg County
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Grace Gilchrist Knie, Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2020-CP-42-03593
Appellate Case No. 2021-000707

Trina Dawkins,
as Personal Representative of the Estate of William Dawkins,
Respondent,

v.

Fundamental Clinical and Operational Services, LLC;
Fundamental Administrative Services, LLC;
THI of South Carolina, LLC;
THI of South Carolina at Spartanburg, LLC;
THI of South Carolina at Magnolia Manor-Spartanburg, LLC
d/b/a Magnolia Manor-Spartanburg,
Appellants.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

JORDAN LAW CENTER

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

ARGUMENTS

I. The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the Circuit Court’s finding that no merger occurred.

In the Subject Opinion, the Court of Appeals held that “the circuit court did not err in denying the Facility’s motion to compel arbitration because the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement did not merge.” (Subject Opinion, citations omitted). This holding is consistent with South Carolina precedent and mirrors the holdings in several cases cited in the Subject Opinion, namely *Est. of Solesbee by Bayne v. Fundamental Clinical & Operational Servs., LLC*, 438 S.C. 638, 885 S.E.2d 144 (Ct. App. 2023), *cert. pending*, *Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 346, 755 S.E.2d 450 (2014), and *Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC*, 422 S.C. 544, 813 S.E.2d 292 (Ct. App. 2018).

Appellants are reliant on this argument because Melissa, who lacked actual authority to act on her father's behalf, signed an admission agreement and Mr. Dawkins supposedly benefited from this agreement. However, because the law is so clear that she lacked the ability to bind him to an arbitration agreement, the Facility is left with the merger argument to bootstrap its way to a binding arbitration agreement. This argument has been rejected repeatedly by our Appellate Courts and was properly rejected here. The evidence of the record does not support merger, and the Circuit Court found that the two agreements had not merged. This finding should not be disturbed on appeal. Particularly, the Court found that the two agreements were separate documents; contemplated interpretation under different bodies of law; were separately paginated, titled, and named; and had separate signature blocks. (R. p. 11). These findings were in line with well-established South Carolina law on this issue.

Merger does not occur where the documents recognize the "separatedness" of the arbitration agreement, which is indicative of an intent that the common law doctrine of merger not apply. *See Coleman* at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455. In *Coleman*, Ann Coleman signed several documents, including arbitration agreements, when admitting her sister to a health care facility, and the facility made a similar merger/estoppel argument that the Appellants make in this case. *Id.* The circuit court denied the motion to compel in *Coleman. Id.* On appeal, the *Coleman* court found the language in the section titled "Entirety of Agreement" "recognizes the 'separatedness' of the [arbitration agreement] and the admission agreement, not a merger of the two contracts." *Coleman*, 407 S.C. at 355, 755 S.E.2d at 455. Furthermore, the court noted that the "Entirety of Agreement" clause creates an ambiguity as to merger, and "the law is clear that any ambiguity...is

construed against the drafter....” *Id.* at 355-56, 755 S.E.2d at 455. The *Coleman* court ruled the circuit court properly denied [the health care facility's] equitable estoppel arguments because no merger occurred. *Id.* at 356, 755 S.E.2d at 455.

Additionally, merger does not occur where an arbitration agreement and admission agreement are governed by different law, reference each other separately, provide different mechanisms by which they can be revoked, are separately paginated, and have their own signature page. *See Hodge*, 422 S.C. at 562-563, 813 S.E.2d at 302. In *Hodge*, 422 S.C. at 550, 813 S.E.2d at 295, Mable Hodge entered a rehabilitation facility. *Id.* Mable's husband executed various documents related to her admission, including an arbitration agreement and an admission agreement. *Id.* Mable was not present at the time her husband signed these documents on the day before her admission because she was still in the hospital. *Id.* However, Mable was competent at the time of her admission. *Id.* 422 S.C. at 550, 813 S.E.2d at 296. The circuit court denied [the facility's] motion to dismiss or compel arbitration. *Id.* The facility appealed arguing the circuit court erred in finding the arbitration agreement was separate from the admissions agreement because the two documents were merged. *Id.* 422 S.C. at 556, 813 S.E.2d at 299. The Court of Appeals upheld the circuit court, finding the admissions agreement and arbitration agreement did not merge. *Id.* 422 S.C. at 563, 813 S.E.2d at 302.

The *Hodge* Court based its rulings in part on the fact that the “Admissions Agreement indicated it was governed by South Carolina law, whereas the Arbitration Agreement stated it was governed by federal law.” *Id.* 422 S.C. at 562, 813 S.E.2d at 302. Additionally, similar to *Coleman*, the Arbitration Agreement recognized separatedness because it referenced the two documents separately, “stating ‘[a]ny and all claims or

controversies arising out of or in any way relating to this Agreement or the Patient/Resident's Admission Agreement.” *Id.* Furthermore, the arbitration agreement stated it could be revoked within thirty days, while the admission agreement did not contain such an indication; rather, it provided the admissions agreement could only be amended by the patient with written agreement executed by the facility and the patient. *Id.* The Court noted that each document was separately paginated and had its own signature page. *Id.* Finally, signing the arbitration agreement was not a precondition to admission. *Id.* at 562-63, 813 S.E.2d at 302. Based on this, the Court of Appeals found the admissions agreement and arbitration agreement did not merge. *Id.* at 563, 813 S.E.2d at 302. Therefore, because Mable received no benefit from the arbitration agreement, equitable estoppel did not bar Mable's claims. *Id.*

The instant case has many similarities to *Coleman* and *Hodge*: the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement are two separate documents; the Admission Agreement contemplates interpretation under state law while the Arbitration Agreement states that it is solely to be interpreted under federal law; the documents are separately paginated; the documents are titled separately; the documents have separate filenames; and, the documents have separate signature and date blocks. (R. p. 105, 168). The Admission Agreement also contains an Integration Clause, which states: “I/we hereby acknowledge that I/we have read this page and all preceding pages and acknowledge that this Agreement represents the entire agreement and understanding between the parties . . . and may not be amended except by written agreement of the parties.” (R. p. 168). The words “arbitration,” or “alternative dispute resolution,” or other similar terms are not mentioned a single time in the Admission Agreement. One must strain logic beyond

anything comprehensible to be able to make the argument that a contract with an Integration Clause, *which explicitly states that it contains the entire understanding between the parties and that other writings are not part of the agreement*, actually contemplated and included an entirely separate document which is never referenced a single time. In their Petition, the Appellants argue that binding precedent from *Hodge* and *Solesbee* should be overturned on their way to the claim that “merger is the default position” and should be presumed (Appellants’ Petition for a Writ of Certiorari, p. 17). This assertion ignores the fact that purpose of the two agreements was different (an exchange of services for money versus a binding dispute resolution procedure for any and all claims) and that the documents clearly indicate a contrary intention (the Integration clause).

II. The Doctrine of Equitable Estoppel does not allow the Appellants to prevail on a merger theory.

Assuming *arguendo* that the Court of Appeals was in error by holding that the agreements did not merge, the Appellants must still make a showing that the doctrine of equitable estoppel should apply to prevent the Respondent from arguing that the arbitration agreement is enforceable. The Appellants’ argument clearly fails on this issue as well.

“Equitable estoppel is a contract defense and the party asserting this defense bears the burden of proving all of its elements.” *Kelly v. Logan, Jolley & Smith*, 383 S.C. 626, 638, 682 S.E.2d 1, 7 (Ct. App. 2009). This defense requires proof that the party to be estopped (1) **acted in a way amounting to a false representation**; (2) intended that such conduct be acted on by the other party; and, (3) had actual or constructive knowledge of

the real facts. *Strickland v. Strickland*, 375 S.C. 76, 84, 650 S.E.2d 465, 470 (2007) (emphasis added). The party asserting the estoppel must **(1) lack knowledge and the means of knowledge of the truth of the facts in question;** (2) rely on the conduct of the party estopped; and (3) make a prejudicial change in position in reliance of the conduct of the party to be estopped. *Id.* Equitable doctrines such as estoppel favor diligent parties who actively endeavor to protect their rights. As person cannot claim to have been misled and cannot rely on equitable estoppel if the party, by the exercise of reasonable diligence, could have acquired knowledge to determine the truth of facts in question. *Binkley v. Rabon Creek Watershed Conservation Dist. Of Fountain Inn*, 348 S.C. 58, 70-71, 558 S.E.2d 902, 908-09 (Ct. App. 2001).

By its own admission, the facility in this case is a skilled nursing facility which provides medical services to large numbers of medically complex patients simultaneously. It is a sophisticated corporate entity which operates under the law of South Carolina and is aware of the impact that state and federal rules and laws have in this heavily regulated industry. The estoppel argument in this case fails because the Appellants are unable to show any false representation made by Melissa during the admission process, much less to show that they lacked the means to uncover that Melissa did not have the legal authority to act on her father's behalf.

A Power of Attorney does not exist in South Carolina unless there exists a "writing or other record that grants authority to an agent to act in place of the principal" S.C. Code Ann. § 62-8-102 (7) (2017). "A power of attorney must be: signed attested . . . [and] acknowledged or proved." S.C. Code Ann. § 62-8-105 (2017). A Guardian is "a person appointed by the court as guardian." S.C. Code Ann. § 62-5-101

(9) (2017). A Guardianship only exists where the Probate Court has entered “an appropriate order” appointing a Guardian, after making specific findings of facts as to the nature of the individual’s incapacity. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 62-5-303D, 304 (2019). Perhaps most critically, the Admission Agreement required that Facility obtain proof of “any power of attorney, durable power of attorney, durable power of attorney for health care, or other legal documentation permitting the [Representative] to act on Resident’s behalf.” (R. p. 167). It is undisputed that the Facility did not do this at the time of admission, but this language shows that the Facility understood the complexities of dealing with agency issues under South Carolina law.

There is no evidence that Melissa made any kind of false representation to the facility regarding her agency status in relation to her father. There is strong evidence that the facility and its representatives fully understood who was and who was not a valid legal agent. Indeed, these questions are vital to the everyday functioning of that particular industry. These are sophisticated corporate entities who regularly admit legally incapacitated individuals to their facility, and they cannot credibly claim to have been the ‘victims’ of a false representation here. Throughout the course of this case, Appellants have never addressed either the false representation requirement and the knowledge requirement of South Carolina’s longstanding estoppel case law. Given that Appellants have no evidence that Melissa made a false representation and no credible argument that they would have done something different otherwise, the argument clearly fails as to any doctrine of estoppel which requires a showing of fraud-like behavior.

This has led the Appellants to a final fallback position, the Direct Benefits Test to support an estoppel finding. In *Wilson*, the Direct Benefits Test cited requires that the

non-signatory “may be estopped from asserting that the lack of his signature on a written contract precludes enforcement of the contract's arbitration clause when he has consistently maintained that other provisions of the same contract should be enforced to benefit him .” *Wilson v. Willis*, 426 S.C. 326, 340, 827 S.E.2d 167, 175 (2019). “Stated another way, ‘[u]nder the direct benefits theory of estoppel, a nonsignatory may be compelled to arbitrate where the nonsignatory ‘knowingly exploits’ the benefits of an agreement containing an arbitration clause, and receives benefits flowing directly from the agreement”” *Wilson* at 340, 827 S.E.2d 175-76 (citing *Belzberg v. Verus Invs. Holdings Inc.*, 21 N.Y.3d 626, 977 N.Y.S.2d 685, 999 N.E.2d 1130, 1134 (2013)).

“Valuable consideration to support a contract may consist of some right, interest, profit or benefit accruing to one party or some forbearance, detriment, loss or responsibility given, suffered or undertaken by the other.” *Plantation A.D., LLC v. Gerald Builders of Conway, Inc.*, 386 S.C. 198, 206, 687 S.E.2d 714, 718 (Ct. App. 2009) (quoting *Prestwick Golf Club, Inc. v. Prestwick Ltd. P'ship.*, 331 S.C. 385, 389, 503 S.E.2d 184, 186 (Ct.App.1998)). Where a contract lacks valuable consideration, the contract will be deemed unenforceable. Courts have held that where there is a mutual promise to arbitrate, there must be additional consideration. However, in determining whether adequate consideration exists in a contract, or in an arbitration agreement under the FAA guided by principles of contract law, our courts must examine and stay within the confines of the four corners of the instrument. *State Acc. Fund v. S.C. Second Injury Fund*, 388 S.C. 67, 76, 693 S.E.2d 441, 445 (Ct. App. 2010) (quoting *McPherson v. J.E. Sirrine & Co.*, 206 S.C. 183, 204, 33 S.E.2d 501, 509 (1945)). Therefore, our courts

must assess whether the arbitration agreement itself contains sufficient consideration in the form of a mutual exchange of promises to arbitrate; it does not.

There is no direct benefit to nursing home residents from a pre-admission arbitration contract separate from the admission agreement. Admission can be the ‘direct benefit’ that forces Respondent to arbitrate only if admission and arbitration are governed by the same contract. In the case at hand, even assuming Melissa had authority, there is no valuable consideration in agreeing to the Arbitration Agreement. The agreement contains no benefit or detriment to the parties. Therefore, where the Arbitration Agreement lacks consideration the court should not compel arbitration. Facility was prohibited from asking or receiving any consideration from Mr. Dawkins or any patient. Facilities must “not charge, solicit, accept, or receive, in addition to any amount otherwise required to be paid under the state plan...any other consideration as a precondition of admitting (or expediting the admission of) the individual to the facility or as a requirement for the individual’s continued stay at the facility.” 42 U.S.C. § 1396r(c)(5)(A)(iii)(2021). Any nursing home facility that accepts Medicare or Medicaid funds for resident care is *expressly forbidden* from accepting any other money, benefit or other consideration as a precondition for admitting a patient to the facility or as a requirement for continued stay in a facility.

Finally, the Appellants cannot credibly point towards any attempt on behalf of Mr. Dawkins to ‘exploit’ any of the provisions of the arbitration agreement. He and his estate have always done the exact opposite.

III. Appellants are not entitled to relief because there was never a valid contract to arbitrate.

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